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CHAPTER VIIIL

Tue dividends of the East-India Company, like
those of other mercantile bodies, had been accus-
tomed to fluctnate accordingly as circumstances
were prosperous or adverse. In 1766, the dividend
had for some time been made at the rate of six per
cent. per annum. The news of the acquisition of
the dewanny of Bengal, Behar, and Orissa, im-
pressed the proprietors with a belief that more
might reasonably be expected, and at the same
general court in which the success of Clive’s ne-
gotiation was announced,* a motion was made to
raise the dividend to eight per cent.; but the Court
of Directors having delivered an unanimous opinion
that the proposal was premature, the motion, in
deference to their judgment, was withdrawn. At

* Held on the 18th June, 1766.
VOL. II. B
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the next general court,* however, the subject of
increase of dividend was again brought forward, and
an augmentation of still greater amount was called
for. It was moved that the next dividend should
be made at the rate of ten per cent. per annum.
The Court of Directors, anticipating that a proposal
for increasing the dividend would be made. had
prepared a report, the result of an investigation of
the Company’s affairs, with special regard to the
subject of debate; and their conclusion was, that
the circumstances of the Company were not such as
to warrant any increase. Notwithstanding this, the
motion was pressed to a division, and was finally de-
termined by a ballot, the result of which gave a vic-
tory to the advocates of the proposed increase. This
was followedt by a proposal to make overtures to
Government for an extension of the duration of the
Company’s charter, on consideration of their admit-
ting the State to participate in the advantages of
their recent acquisition.; Those with whom the
proposal originated, indeed, manifested an exube-

* Held 24th Sept. 1766. t 14th Nov. 1766,

} The creation of the new East-India Company, with which
the old Company was finally incorporated, was one of the various
expedients resorted to by the embarrassed government of William
the Third, to raise money for the service of the State. The
capital was to be lent to the Crown, and at a stipulated period
after the repayment of the loan the exclusive right of trading was
to cease. As the State found it convenient to borrow, and diffi-
cult to repay, other loans were subsequently obtained, the bonus
for which was invariably an extension of the period of the conti-
nuance of the exclusive trade. The proposal referred to in the
text, however extravagant in its character, was, therefore, ac-
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rance of sanguine expectation worthy of the burn-
ing clime on whose wealth and fertility it was
based. In consideration of an extension of the
Company’s charter for thirty-seven years, they ge-
nerously proposed to assign to the State all that
should remain of the territorial revenues after the
civil and military expenses of the settlements should
be paid, and after payment of a dividend to the
Company at the rate of fifteen per cent., to be
guaranteed for ten years. During that period the
profits of the Company’s trade were to accumulate
as additional capital. At its expiration, the Com-
pany were again to derive their dividends from the
profits of their trade; but if these should be insuf-
ficient to pay fiftcen per cent., the difference was to
be made up from the territorial revenues. High as
were the expectations of the proprietors, they were
not prepared to cntertain this plan. The proposal
was met by a motion for the previous question,
which was carried. This result was followed by a
motion, rccommending the Court of Directors to
take measures for obtaining from parliament fur-
ther powers for extending the trade of the Com-
pany, and securing to them the benefits of the grants
and acquisitions recently obtained. An amendment
upon this was moved, embodying the views of those
who had supported the first motion, but without
specially referring to them—motions of adjourn-
ment sine die, and of adjournment to a future day,

cordant with the principles on which accommodation had previ-
ously been afforded mutually to the Crown and the Company.

B2
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were made, and, after a protracted debate, the
court broke up, with an understanding that the
subject should be resumed at the quarterly court
which was approaching. But the successful results
of Clive’s policy had attracted the notice of others
as well as of the proprietors of East-India stock.
Several months before the discussion last noticed,
the Duke of Grafton, then prime minister, had
intimated to the chairman and deputy-chairman
that the affairs of the East-India Company would
probably occupy the attention of parliament in the
approaching session, and that it might be expected
to meet before Christmas.* It had met on the
11th November; and on the 25th, a motion was
made in the House of Commons, for a committee to
inquire into the state and condition of the Company.
It was carried, upon a division, by one hundred and
twenty-nine against seventy-six; and it was then
further resolved, that the committec should consist
of the “ whole House.”

On the 10th December, the court received orders
to lay before the House of Commons a varicty of
papers, including copies of all treaties and grants
from any native powers between 1756 and 1766,
both years inclusive; as well as of all correspon-
dence relating thereto, and an account of the state
of the Company’s territorial revenues. At the time
of making these orders, the House also called for a

* This communication was made on the 28th August, 1766, and

at the next general court (24th September) was announced to the
proprietors. ‘
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statement of all expenses incurred by Government
on account of the East-India Company during the
period to which the order for copies of the treaties
and grants applied. These proceedings of parlia-
ment were made known to the general court held
a few days after the service of the orders, and the
effect was to create a general impression that, under
the circumstances, it was not advisable to make any
application to parliament. With reference to the
order for a statement of expenses incurred by Go-
vernment on behalf of the Company, it was sug-
gested that a counter-statement should be prepared,
of charges thrown upon the Company by the acqui-
sition and preservation of their possessions, the re-
duction and temporary retention of Manilla, and
other similar causes; but the Court of Directors, it
wag intimated, had alrcady anticipated the wishes of
the proprietors on this point, by giving orders for
the preparation of such a statement. The general
court adjourned till the 31st December, on which
day a motion, recommending the Court of Directors
to treat with the ministry and report their procced-
ings, was carried unanimously.

The Court of Directors entered on the duty com-
mitted to them, but their progress was slow and
unsatisfactory. The chairman, Mr. Dudley, writing
to Lord Clive, says :—“ We have been, and still are,
studying the wants of the administration, for they
themselves will not open their mouths to utter one
syllable.”* Parliament continued to call for further

¥ Quoted by Sir Jobn Malcolm in Memoirs of Clive, val. iii.
pege 197,

CHAP.
VIII.

A.D. 1766.
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papers, and general courts continued to assemble to
hear that their executive had made certain proposals,
and that the ministers held their peace.* The stag-
nancy of discussion was somewhat relieved by the
irrepressible activity of Mr. Sulivan, who, being now
out of the direction, produced a set of counter-pro-
posals, to be submitted to ministers in place of those
of the directors. The question was referred to the
decision of a ballot, and the directors prevailed.
The House of Commons had called for a variety
of papers, but the committee did not proceed to
business till the latter end of March. It sat at
intervals through the month of April and part of
May. In the meantime the desire of the propri-
etors for an increase of their dividend continued,
but the ministers and the Court of Directors were
alike opposed to its gratification. At a general
court, held on the 6th May, the chairman reported
the results of the negotiations between the Court of
Directors and the advisers of the Crown, and ap-
prized the proprietors of the fecling entertained by
the latter against an increase of the dividend. It
was, notwithstanding, moved, that the dividend for
the ensuing half-year should be at the rate of twelve-
and-a-half per cent. per annum, and the motion was
carried. On the following day, the House of Com-
mons called for the proceedings of the court at
which this vote was passed; and at another general
court, held on the 8th, the Court of Directors re-

* The documentary communications on the part of the ministry
were confined to a single paper, which, so far from expounding
their views, consisted of nothing but a string of questions.
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commended that it should be rescinded. After a
debate of great length, a resolution was passed, to
the effect that, in the arrangement with the minis-
ters of the Crown, four hundred thousand pounds
per annum should be secured to the proprietors. This
did not differ substantially from the former resolu-
tion, as that sum would have furnished a dividend
of twelve-and-a-half per cent. Onthe day on which
this court was held, Mr. Fuller, the chairman of the
committee of the House of Commons, moved for
leave to bring in a bill for regulating the Company’s
dividends, and the motion was carricd. The bill
was brought in on the 11th, and read a first time.
On the 12th it was read a second time, and ordered
to be committed on the 19th. The object of the
bill was to restrain any increase of dividend beyond
ten per cent. till the next session of parliament.

On the 18th May, the chairman reported to a
general court then held, that copies of the resolu-
tion passed at the preceding court had been deli-
vered to the Duke of Grafton, premier, Mr. Town-
send, chancellor of the exchequer, and General
Conway, one of the secretaries of state. An inter-
view with the Duke of Grafton had been sought,
but the answer of that nobleman seemed to offer
little encouragement to the hopes of the proprie-
tors.* The Court of Directors, however, had deemed

* The following is a copy of it :—** The Duke of Grafton pre-
sents his compliments to the Chairman and Deputy of the East-
India Company ; his time is always at their command, but he owns
he can see very little effect from any interview on the subject of
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it expedient to try the effect of a personal confer-
ence : the chairman and deputy accordingly availed
themselves of the expressed readiness of the minister
to receive them; but all that they obtained was a
reference for his views to his written message. Un-
der these circumstances, the Court of Directors re-
commended the presentation of a petition to the
House of Commons, pressing the claims of the Com-
pany, but modifying them in some degree so as to
meet the views of the administration. One of the
main points in which modification took place, was
that of the period during which the proposed agree-
ment between the Crown and the Company should
remain in force. The proprietors had required a
considerable addition to the term of their charter,
and the expectations expressed as to the extent of
such addition had varied from thirty-seven to fifty
years. Ministers would conclude no agreement for
more than three years, and the first clause of the
proposed petition expressed acquiescence in this
arrangement. The fourth, fifth, and sixth clauses
proposed that the trading profits of the Corapany,
and the residue of the territorial revenue, after
deducting the expenses of administration, should
form a fund out of which the Company should
receive £400,000 per annum as a dividend, and that

the resolutions of the general court of Friday last, which, differ-
ing 8o much from the ideas jointly approved by the directors and
the King’s servants, appear more proper for the judgment of par-
liament, whose attention to the great affair has been too often
turned aside by fallacious appearances of accommodation.” !
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the surplus should be equally divided between the
Company and the public, the share of the Company
being appropriated to the discharge of their debts.
The remaining clauses related to various points,
fiscal, military, and commercial, but of inferior
importance with reference to the existing circum-
stances of the Company. The debate of this day
was fierce and long. At a late hour, a motion being
made for a petition to the House of Commons,
praying that the petitioners might be heard by them-
selves or their counsel against the bill for regulating
the Company’s dividends, a ballot was demanded;
and, as the bill was to go into committee on the fol-
lowing day, it was suggested, contrary to usual prac-
tice, that the ballot should take place forthwith. At
nine o’clock in the evening it was moved and carried,
that the ballot should then commence, and continue
open till eleven. Against this decision several pro-
prietors delivered a protest. Another protest was
signed by the Court of Directors, who also refused
to appoint any scrutineers. Scrutineers were ac-
cordingly chosen by the proprietors, who reported
that the motion was carried by one hundred and
thirty-eight against two. The debate was then
resumed on the petition proposed by the Court of
Directors. It was conducted with no less vehe-
mence than that which had preceded the ballot. It
was finally determined to instruct the Court of Di-
rectors to alter the petition, by suggesting the pay-
ment of £400,000 per annum to the public in place
of the proposed participation in the Company’s pro-
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fits ; and a few minutes before four o’clock in the
morning of the 19th May this memorable court ad-
journed. The petition praying to be heard by counsel
against the dividend bill was presented to the House
of Commons on the same day. A motion, to refer
it to the consideration of the committee, being op-
posed, the debate was adjourned till the following
day.* A motion succeeded for a return of the names
of the proprietors who had balloted on the day be-
fore under such extraordinary circumstances, and of
the amount of their stock. It was opposed ; but, on
a division, carried. The petition originally prepared
by the Court of Directors, and which submitted the
proposalsof the Company for an arrangement with the
State, was presented on the 20th, and referred to the
committee. The adjourned debate on the former
petition was then resumed, and the petition was ul-
timately rejected. On the 25th, it was ordered, that
it be an instruction to the committee to insert in the
bill a clause regulating the mode of balloting in the
general courts of the East-India Company. On
the 27th, the bill came out of committec; and on
the 28th, was read a third time and passed. On
that day, it had been determined by a ballot again
to petition parliament against the bill, and pray-
ing to be heard by counsel ; but from the fact of the
bill having passed the Housc of Commons, it was

* There appears, from the Journals of the House of Commons,
to have been another petition of like character from certain pro-
prietors of East-India stock, which was referred to the committee,
and on the 25th of May the petitioners were heard by counsel.
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no longer of any avail to petition there. The Com-
pany, therefore, addressed their prayer to the House
of Lords; and, with a view to aid its success by a
pledge of moderation, passed a resolution against
any increase of dividend beyond twelve-and-a-half
per cent. for two years. But they were not more
successful in the upper, than they had been in the
lower House. The bill was passed, though not
without a protest against it signed by nineteen
peers. Among the most powerful opponents of the
bill was the chief justice of the King’s-bench, the
Earl of Mansficld: and his lordship is represented
to have condemned the proceeding as an exertion
of arbitrary power of which there was no precedent
—as an attempt to set aside a legal act of private
men, legally empowered to dispose of their own
property, in doing which they had violated neither
the general principles of justice nor the by-laws of
the Company.* There is certainly some force in
the reasons of this distinguished lawyer—the in-
terference of parliament to prevent a commercial
co-partnery from ruining itself was at least an un-
usual exercise of authority. But whether such in-
terposition were justifiable or not, it is certain that
it was beneficial, even to those who were restrained
by it. The expectations of the proprietors had been
unduly raised with regard to the benefits likely to
accrue to them from the territorial revenues: the
Court of Directors sought in vain to moderate them,

* Hardwick Papers, quoted in Hansard’s Parliamentary His-
tory, vol. xvi.
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and it was onlybyforce of law that the temporary gra-
tification of those extravagant hopes was prevented.
Few, however, will believe that the ministers of

" the Crown took a very deep interest in preserving a

trading company from the consequences of an im-
prudent act. The wealth believed to be involved in
the gift of the dewanny, and the desire to divert
some portion of it into the English exchequer, must
be looked to as the real motives of their interfer-
ence.* The question was raised, to whom the newly
acquired territory belonged; but its discussion was
somewhat premature. The Company had in strict-
ness acquired no territory, but only the right of
administering the finances of Bengal, Behar, and
Orissa ; and after satisfaction of certain claims, of
applying the surplus to their own benefit. It may
be conceded, that neither a British subject, nor a
company of British subjects, can acquire or exercise
territorial sovereignty, but in this case there was no
sovereignty. The Emperor of Delhi was the sove-
reign, and the Company was his zemindar. It may
Ye true, that this relation between the parties was a
mere fiction; but similar fictions are common under
all systems of government and law, and there is no
reason why they should command less respect in the
case of the East-India Company than in any other.

* These feelings were not confined to the ministers, but ap-
pear to have pervaded the people. Alderman Beckford, leader of
the popular party in the city of London, is represented to have
expressed, in his place in parliament, a hope that the rich acquisi-

tions of the Company in the East would be made the means of
relieving the people of England of some of their burdens.
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Against public clamour and parliamentary influence,
it was, however, vain to contend; and throughout
the discussion which took place among the proprie-
tors of East-India stock, the admission of the State
to a participation in the profits of the dewanny was
assumed to be a necessary concession. A bill, pro-
viding for the payment for two years of four hun-
dred thousand pounds per annum by the Company
to the Crown, was accordingly brought in, and passed

into a law, without opposition and almost without
notice.*

The operation of the act for limiting the amount
of the Company’s dividends was restricted to one
year. Before the expiration of that period, consi-
derable changes had taken place in the ministrydL

* By another act, of which the tendency was unquestionably
good, it was sought to diminish the pernicious practice of creating
fictitious votes. The bill was introduced with especial reference to
the East-India Company, but, in its progress through the House
of Commons, its operation was cxtended to other similar esta-
blishments. It provided, that no one should vote in any general
court who had not been possessed of his qualification for six
months.

+ This ministry, although the Duke of Grafton was its nominal
head, was formed by the celebrated Earl of Chatham, but at a
time when his health was failing, and after his disposition for
public business had left him. It was from its commencement
weak and unstable, possessing neither the favour of the court,
the confidence of the people, nor any principle of conservation
within itself. It was the ministry so finely ridiculed by Burke
in the following passage of one of his speeches :— He made an
administration so chequered and speckled; he put together a
piece of joinery so crossly indented and whimsically dovetailed ;
a cabinet so variously inlaid; such a piece of diversified mosaic;
such a tesselated pavement without cement, here a bit of black
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but no change in the policy maintained towards the
East-India Company. A bill was brought in to
continue for another year the operation of the
former act. The Company resisted this, as they
had resisted the former act regulating the dividends;
but it passed both Houses by considerable majorities,
although, like its predecessor, it was the subject of
a protest in the Lords.* 1In the month of August

stone, and there a bit of white; patriots and courtiers; king’s
friends and republicans; Whigs and Tories; treacherous friends
and open enemies—that it was, indeed, a very curious show, but
utterly unsafe to touch and unsure to stand upon. The colleagues
whom he had assorted at the same boards stared at each other,
and were obliged to ask—* Sir, your name ¥ Sir, you have the
advantage of me.” ‘Mr. Such-a-one, I beg a thousand pardons.’
I venture to say it did so happen, that persons had a single
office divided between them who had never spoken to each other
in their lives, until they found themselves, they knew not how,
pigging together, heads and points, in the same truckle bed.”—
Speech on Repeal of the American Tea Duties Bill, April 19,
1774.

* The protest contains six sections, each stating and enforcing
a particular ground of opposition to the bill. The fourth, fifth,
and sixth are the most important, referring, not to the peculiar
circumstances of the Company, but to general principles. They
are as follows : ““ Fourth. Because it appears to us that to restrain
the subject in the disposition of his own property, without any
other pretence than the mere poseibility of abuse (this bill having
been chiefly defended upon that ground), is a principle unheard of
in any free country, and most alarming to all the trading and
monied interests of this kingdom ; it goes to the subjecting to the
same restraint, on the same loose reasons, every great company,
as well as every public or private stock, which may become of
magnitude sufficient to tempt, in future times, an impoverished
treasury and a rapacious administration, since no degree of irino-
cence can be a security against such suspicion of a possible frand,
and such a suspicion may be made a ground for continuing an



BRITISH EMPIRE IN INDIA. ’ 15

following, it was intimated that the King’s ministers
were ready to receive proposals from the Company
with respect to the territorial acquisitions and re-
venues. The proceedings connected with the pass-
ing of the bill restricting the amount of dividend
have been detailed at some length, because they
relate to the first instance in which parliament
interfered with the property of the Company. It

arbitrary restraint, until the subject shall consent to ransom his
property on such terms as shall be prescribed to him. Fifth.
Because this annual restraint tends to establish a perpetual inter-
position of parliament, in declaring dividends for this Company,
and, indeed, all companies whatsoever, to the increase of that
most dangerous and infamous part of stock-jobbing which is
carried on by clandestine intelligence, and to the vesting it in
the worst of all hands—those of administration ; for a minister
who shall hereafter acquire in parliament (by whatever means)
sufficient influence for the purpose, may, by his power of increasing,
diminishing, or withholding dividends at his pleasure, have all
the stockholders in these companies (a body extremely considerable
for wealth and numbers) entirely at his mercy, and probably at
his disposal, to the infinite increase of the already overgrown and
almost irresistible influence of the Crown. Sixth. Because we
apprehend that this unprecedented practice of declaring dividends
inparliament may become a more alarming mode of undue influence
on the members themselves, than any of those which have hitherto
sofrequently excited the jealousy of thelegislature, sinceit furnishes
a fund for corruption far greater than any hitherto known—a fund
in its nature inexhaustible, of the greatest facility in the applica-
tion, and quite out of the reach of all discovery and prosecution.
We think the principle of this bill the first step towards the intro-
duction of such a new system of corruption, and have, therefore,
resisted it, lest the constitution should become totally perverted
from the ends for which it was originally established, and be no
longer venerated by this nation, as giving security to liberty and
property, and protection to the subject from all violence and
injustice on the part of Government.”
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is unnecessary, and would be uninteresting, to pur-
sue the subsequent negotiations so minutely, and it
will be sufficient to state, that an agreement for five
years was effected between the Government and
the Company ; that the latter were permitted to add
to their dividends, provided the addition did not
exceed one per cent. in any one year, nor increase
the entire dividend to a rate exceeding twelve-and-
a-half per cent. per annum; and that the payment of
four hundred thousand pounds annually into the
Exchequer was to be continued, subject to a reduc-
tion, should the state of the Company’s affairs com-
pel a diminution of their dividend below ten per
cent.

But this agreement did not remove all grounds of
difference between the Government and the Com-
pany. The state of affairs in India was once more
unsatisfactory. The stoppage of investments in
consequence of the want of means to make them—
the ill success attending the war with Hyder Alj,
and other circumstances calculated to excite alarm,
had determined the Company to send out comm:s-
sioners vested with extraordinary powers ; and fur-
ther, for the protection of the British dominions
and settlements in the East, they had solicited from
the Crown the assistance of some ships of the line.
To the former project the King’s ministers objected ;
and though not disposed to refuse compliance with
the request for maritime assistance, they wished to
attach to it a condition to which the Court of
Directors and the proprietors were alike hostile.
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They desired that the officer who should com-
mand in the Indian seas should be invested with
‘the functions of a plenipotentiary. This being ob-
jected to, it was required that, in the political
arrangements that might be made between the Com-
pany and native states, that officer should have a
large and ostensible share, and this upon the ground
that the British Crown was bound by the treaty
of Paris to maintain the rights of certain Indian
princes.* To Sir John Lindsay, who was to proceed
to India in command of a frigate, the Court of Di-
rectors had readily granted a commission to act in
the Gulf of Persia. The question of granting to him
further powers was submitted to a general court,
and, after warm and long-continued debates, de-
cided in the negative. Ministers did not press the
matter further, nor did they persevere in resisting
the proposed commission. Two frigates were dis-
patched for Bengal, and in one of them the new com-
missioners, Mr. Vansittart, Mr. Scrafton, and Colonel
Forde, proceeded. But their commission was not
opened—the ship in which they sailed never reached
its destination, and was supposed to have foundered
at sea.

A most disgraceful act of the ministry must now
be noticed. They had appeared to acquiesce in the
decision of the East-India Company to withhold
from the officer commanding in the Indian seas all
power of interfering with the native states; but,

* One of whom had, long before the period of this negotiation,
been deposed and murdered.
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CHAP. notwithstanding this, they secretly gave to Sir John

—- Lindsay a royal commission, conferring the powers

which the Company had refused.* The political

inexpediency of this act was its lightest fault. The

incapacity of the ministers who committed it sinks

into insignificance, when compared with the crime

of dishonouring the name of their master by associ-

ating it with a miserable and scandalous deception.

The secret history of this proceeding transpired

after a few years, and it is at once curious and in-
structive.

It is notorious that the education of Oriental
princes does not prepare them, in any degree, for
the stations which they are destined to occupy.
Ignorant, for the most part, even of the state of
society around them, their ignorance of European
politics, habits, and manners is extreme. They are,
consequently, an easy prey for artful and unprinci-
pled adventurers, who, traversing the world in quest
of fortune, are not so fastidious as to reject any
means of securing their object, though fraud, false-
hood, and treachery, be among them. Mahcmet

* The names of the men guilty of this mean, dastardly, and
perfidious conduct ought to be recorded. The principal mem-
bers of the ministry were the Duke of Grafton, premier; Lord
North, chancellor of the exchequer; Lord Camden, lord chan-
cellor; Lord Weymouth, Lord Rochford, and Lord Hilsborough,
secretaries of state; Sir Edward Hawke, first lord of the admi-
ralty ; Lord Gower, president of the council; Lord Bristol, lord
privy seal. The minister immediately concerned in the negotia-
tion with the East-India Company was Lord Weymouth : from
him Sir John Lindsay received his commission.
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Ali was dissatisfied ; he met with a subject of Great
Britain named Macpherson, who told him that his
dissatisfaction was just; he did more, he professed
to be able to procure him relief, and solicited a com-
mission from the Nahob empowering him to proceed
to England as an accredited agent of his highness.
The objects of this mission were stated by the envoy
to be, to raise in the breast of the prime minister a
favourable feeling towards the Nabob—to lay before
him the distress of the prince, and to shew the ad-
vantage which would arise to the British State from
supporting him in what the agent termed the rights
of his alliance.* The required authority was given,
and Mr. Macpherson proceeded to Europe. He
appears to have relied in a great degree for the suc-
cess of his mission upon the Earl of Chatham and
the Earl of Shelburne, the former of these noble-
men, though only holding the office of lord privy
seal, being regarded as the active head of the admi-
nistration ; but, on Macpherson’s arrival in England,
he found that in one of the many ministerial changes

* See Memorial of Services rendered to the Nabob, printed in
Appendix 1 to Third Report of Select Committee of the House of
Commons, made on 12th June, 1782. When Mr. Macpherson
was questioned in the Council of Madras (of which he was
subsequently a member) as to the authorship of this paper, his
reply was, ‘* that it was impossible for him to give a precise
answer to the question, the paper being neither wrote in his hand
nor signed by him, nor does the President inform him that he
has received it from any authority; it is a paper of considerable
length, and refers to transactions previous to his being in the
Company’s service.” Such an answer is quite conclusive as to
the genuineness of the paper.

c 2
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which about that time occurred, both the Earl of
Chatham and the Earl of Shelburne had retired from
office. Nothing discouraged, however, he resolved
to proceed with his case—and he expresses himself
on this subject with a sense of conscientious obliga-
tion truly edifying :—“ Whoever,” says he, “ had
the favour of the sovereign, it was my business to
interest him in the support of my employer.”* The
justice of the Nabob’s complaints, and the interests of
the ambassador’s country, were secondary considera-
tions—his duty to his employer was primary, and
nothing could be more fortunate, where conscience
was so scrupulously regarded, than the fact that the
course of duty to which the Nabol’s emissary felt
committed was, at the same time, the course most
likely to advance his personal interests. According
to his own report, he also enjoyed another singular
piece of good fortune. The minister to whom he
had to apply was all that he could wish. ¢ Fortu-
nately,” he says, “ the favourite and minister was a
personage of the first distinction—of the noblest and
most steady principles ; every consideration }.ointed
out his grace as the member of the British empire,
whose friendship and support, next to those of the
Sovereign, were the most desirable to the cause of
the Nabob.” His grace’s virtues were, however, but
subordinate to his position, for the Nabob’s advocate
adds, “ but above all, the consideration of his being
at the head of affairs, made it necessary to apply to
the Duke of Grafton.”+
* Memorial, ut supra, + Ibid.
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Having determined to whom to apply, the next
consideration was how to secure the minister’s car.
Macpherson had no acquaintance with the duke, and
he felt that without introduction he had little chance
of approaching him with success. The deficient
link in the chain of communication was supplied by
the intervention of the Earl of Warwick, to whom
Macpherson was known ; and with a letter from the
earl in one hand, and a plan for the administration
of Indian affairs in the other, the representative of
the potentate of Arcot waited on the minister. The
diplomatist was a cautious as well as a persevering
person. The plan which he presented to the Duke
of Grafton was, he states, intended to sound his grace:
he was not less wary with regard to the nature and
extent of his powers. He says:— I signified, in
some degree, my commission.”* His caution was
not unreasonable, but it was unnecessary. His mis-
sion was too agreeable to be slighted. He was
invited to a second interview, and then he became
satisfied that “it was unnecessary to act with
further reserve.” His grace, he states, « spoke so
feelingly of the oppression under which the princes
of India laboured from the usurped authority of the
commercial subjects of the state,”} that the emissary
was convinced that the ground was prepared for the
seed which it was his business to cast upon it. He
lost no time in opening his client’s case, and, accord-
ing to his own report, availed himself to the full
extent of an advocate’s privilege of colouring. He

* Memorial, ut supra. + Ibid.
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“ expatiated upon the superior merits of the Nabob,
shewed that he was the person to whom Britain owed
the rise of her power in India—that his attachment
and unsullied honour to the English were unparal-
leled ;> and being thus led to the subject, he
“ dwelt,” he says, “ upon the personal merits” of his
patron as “a statesman and a gentleman.” Thence
diverging to the Nabob’s wrongs, he sought to fix
and deepen the already awakened sympathy of the
minister by an exposition of the * indignity and
even tyranny” to which the exemplary prince was
subjected.

To what extent the eloquent expounder of the
Nabob’s case illustrated the well-chosen topics of
his speech does not appear. DBut it may be con-
cluded with safety, that he did not inform his noble
auditor that the Nabob had never possessed a mili-
tary force that was regarded by his allies in any
other light than as an incumbrance—that he had
been kept on the throne solely by the power of the
British arms—that his “ merits as a statesman” con-
sisted in an almost matchless combination of weak-
ness and perfidly—and that his claim to praise as a
“ gentleman” must rest, if it could be sustained, on
his reputation for meanness, falsehood, and eowar-
dice. Such is the report of history, whatever might
be that of Mr. Macpherson.

Having concluded his harangue, the advocate
presented his letters in attestation of his autho-
rity, and produced what he calls the “ credential pre-
sents.” Mahomet Ali was aware that presents are
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an indispensable auxiliary to diplomacy in India,
and he might not unnaturally suppose that the same
practice prevailed in Europe. But his adviser
ought to have known better. He, however, re-
ported to his master that he had tendered the pre-
sents, but he did not pretend that they were ac-
cepted. The duke, he says, declined to receive
them, but accompanied his refusal by a declaration
of his determination to give all his influence as
minister in support of the cause of Mahomet Ali.
The admiration and gratitude of the Nabob’s com-
missioner were unbounded, and he represents the
speech in which the duke’s gracious answer was con-
veyed, as doing “ honour to the minister of the best
of kings, and the first of nations.”* Indeed the effect
of his grace’s benignity was almost more than the
diplomatic functionary could bear. “ Overwhelmed,”
says he, “ with the nobleness of this answer’—the
connection of the cause and the consequence is not
very clear— overwhelmed with the nobleness of
this answer, I took up the presents and offered them
in the name of the Nabob to his grace’s secretary,
Mr. Bradshaw ;”t but it appears that Mr. Bradshaw
was not less inexorable than his superior, and re-
fused the offer with equal decision and more warmth,
Although such a result must have been expected,
Macpherson represents it as embarrassing him.
He feared that his employer would not believe that
men who would refuse his presents could have any
serious intention to serve him, it being an esta-
* Memorial, ut supr. + Ibid.
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blished prmcxple in the East never to refuse a
present, whether the receiver intend to serve the
donor or not. Another fear oppressed the agitated
mind of the Nabob’s representative. The refusal of
presents would be a thing so new and strange to
his illustrious employer, that he apprehended it
would be attributed to his neglect of pressing. At
a subsequent interview, he, with an amiable candour,
stated his fears. The duke’s secretary put an end
to them by a pregnant remark. After compliment-
ing the negotiator, by observing that, from the con-
fidence reposed in him by the Nabob, any represen-
tation which he might make must be credited, the
polite secretary added, « But we do not wish him
to judge of things from their representation, but
from their event. If he find his cause espoused
here, and the consequent effects in his situation, you
will have less difficulty in persuading him that the
minister can be his friend without receiving his
presents.”*

The minister had refused to be bribed ; but faith
in the all-potent influence of money led to a pro-
posal which it was thought could not fail to be
agreeable at the treasury. It was twofold; and the
minister had only to choose between the support of
public credit by the purchase of a considerable
amount of stock, and a more immediate and direct
benefit to the exchequer to be derived from a loan
at a very low rate of interest. Under pretence of
a sense of the security of the British funds, as com-

* Memorial, ut supra.
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pared with the precarious tenure of property in
India, and of the Nabob’s desire to make provision
for his younger children, it was proposed on the
part of that prince to invest seventy lacs of rupees*
in any public stock that the minister might name;
or, if preferred, to lend that sum, or even a larger,
to the British government at two per cent. The
proposal came to nothing; and probably the minis-
ter thought that the chance of realizing it was not
great. At the time when it was made, Mahomet
Ali professed to be surrounded by pecuniary diffi-
culties ; and, indeed, such was his situation through-
out the greater part of his life. This offer was,
notwithstanding, one of the means by which the
favour of the English government was sought. The
Nabaob’s agent continued to pursue his avocation in
various other modes. Ile wrote pamphlets, and
letters in the newspapers, proclaiming the royal and
ministerial detcrmination to support the Nabob;
and to give these publications greater weight, he
dated them from Arlington Strect, where the Duke
of Grafton resided. IIe caused articles calculated
to serve or flatter the Nabob to be inserted in books
published by others, and these articles to be brought
prominently to the notice of the advisers of the
Crown. He laid before ministers a suggestion for
passing an act to restrain the Company’s servants
from interfering with the government and succes-
-gion of Indian princes; and this proposal was made
with especial reference to the sitnation and wishes

* About £700,000.
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of Mahomet Ali. His intrigues fomented differ-
ences between the Company and the servants of the
Crown; and he took advantage of the agitation, of
which he was a main cause, to push the objects of
his mission. “T availed myself,” says he, “of the
disputes which subsisted, or were rather commencing,
between his grace as first lord of the treasury and
the India directors, to enforce the propriety of sup-
porting the Nabob.”* His labour was not thrown
away. The ministry resolved to support Mahomet
Ali; they resolved to diminish the power, authority,
and influence of the East-India Company; but they
were too weak to reckon upon carrying out their
design openly. Still they would not abandon it.
They determined to cffect their ohject by any
means; and as it could not be accomplished openly,
it was to be achieved by stealth. The secret com-
mission of Sir John Lindsay was the result of the
mission of Mr. Macpherson.

Sir John Lindsay, on arriving at Madras, pro-
ceeded to assume the exercise of the high powers
with which he was invested. e announced to the
governor and council that he was the bearer of letters
and presents from the Crown to the Nabob of Arcot,
aud invited them to grace the delivery by giving their
attendance on the plenipotentiary. This was de-
clined, and an angry correspondence commenced,
which was subsequently continued on subjects of
more grave importance. Hyder Ali was attacked
by the Mahrattas, and both the belligerents were

* Memorial, ut supra.
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desirous of the assistance of the English. The go-
vernment of Madras wished to maintain neutrality,
but had they felt at liberty to join either party in the
war, their inclinations would have led them towards
Hyder Ali. On the contrary, the Nabob was dis-
posed to favour the Mahrattas; and he succeeded
in enlisting the king’s plenipotentiary on his side.
On this discreditable portion of the British history
of India it is unnecessary, and would be uninterest-
ing, to dwell. The Court of Directors, on becoming
acquainted with the powers bestowed on Sir John
Lindsay—the first intimation of which was derived
from Madras—remonstrated against the course taken
by the ministry, of which, it may be presumed, the
latter were in some degrce ashamed. The powers,
indeed, were not withdrawn, but a change was made
of the person to whom they were entrusted. Sir
Robert Harland was appointed to succeed Sir John
Lindsay, and the Court were informed that such in-
structions had been given him as left “ no reason of
apprehension to the Company.”

In the meantime, the government of Madras had
become involved in hostilities with Tanjore. These
arose out of disputes between the Rajah of that
country and Mahomet Ali. The fortress of Vellum
was attacked, and taken; the city of Tanjore was
besieged, and would probably have fallen, had not a
premature peace been concluded by the son of Ma-
homet Ali. The conditions agreed to by the Rajah
of Tanjore not being performed within the stipu-
lated time, hostilities recommenced. They termi-
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nated in the surrender by the Rajah of the for-
tress of Vellum, and the districts of Coiladdy and
Elangad.

The new plenipotentiary, Sir Robert Harland,
had arrived in August, 1771. Notwithstanding his
alleged instructions were such as to leave “no rea-
son of apprehension to the Company,”* his conduct
was even more officious and dangerous than that of
his predecessor. He entered into negotiations with
the Mahrattas, and involved himself in endless dis-
putes with the governor and council. He finally
departed, in great wrath, having neither offered to
the governor nor received from him the courtesies
usual on such an occasion. On the folly which
sanctioned two rival English authorities in India,
each thwarting the other, and thus tending to de-
stroy all respect for the nation to which they be-
longed, it would be useless to dilate. It is suffi-
cient to observe, that it was one of the weakest
and most reprehensible acts of a ministry, whose
confidence in themselves was equalled only by
the distrust with which they were universally re-
garded.

The annoyance which the governor and council
received from the conduct of Sir Robert Harland
was not the only source of disquiet to them. Sir
Robert Fletcher, it will be remembered, had been
concerned in the mutinous proceedings in Bengal,
and for this offence he had, under the sentence of a

* Letter from Lord Rochford, one of his Majesty's secreta-
ries of state, to the Court of Dircctors, 20th April, 1771,
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court-martial, been most justly dismissed the service.
The proprietors, however, had thought proper to
restore him—a most ill-judged exercise of lenity.
Sir Robert Fletcher could not plead want of expe-
rience in extenuation of his guilt, and that guilt
was greatly aggravated by his rank. It was parti-
cularly his duty to set an example of military obe-
dience to those whom he commanded. When that
duty was forgotten, and the influence of his rank
given in aid of the cause of mutiny, neither the
crime nor the danger was of ordinary character.*
These obvious truths were, however, forgotten or
cast aside in the zeal of personal friendship. Sir
Robert Fletcher, on his restoration, was appointed
to the chief command, and to a seat in council at
Madras. There he soon became involved in violent
disputes with the governor. Being ovdered to Tri-
chinopoly, he applied for a passage to England, in
order, as he represented, to attend his duty in par-
liament, of which body he was a member. He was
informed, that when he had set an example of mili-
tary obedience, any representation from him would

* To givea pretence for the restoration of Sir Robert Fletcher,
the proceedings of the court-martial were referred to General
Lawrence and General Calliaud. The revision of the sentence
of a court-martial by two private officers having no authority
whatever to give an opinion on the subject, was extraordinary,
and the conduct of the revisers was not less so. Unable to find
reasons in the evidence submitted to them to justify the recom-
mendation which they were expected to give, they extended their
inquiries to that which had never been referred to them ; and in
regard to Sir Robert Fletcher’s former services, recommended
that he should be restored.
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receive due attention. The lesson which he had
already received was probably not lost upon him—
he proceeded to Trichinopoly, and took charge of
the fortress. The council then passed a resolution,
that out of respect and veneration for the House of
Commons and their privileges, no impediment should
be offered to the immediate return of Sir Robert
Fletcher to the discharge of his duty in that as-
sembly.

Before this transaction, the government of Madras
had been engaged in aiding Mahomet Ali to punish
certain Polygars who had offended him. They soon
afterwards gratified him, by making war upon Tan-
jore. The country was subdued, and the Rajah
made prisoner. Space cannot be afforded for a
minute inquiry into the justice of this war, but it
was at least questionable. Mahomet Ali had long
thirsted for the possession of Tanjore, and the En-
glish government at length indulged him by its
conquest. The Dutch had purchased of the Rajah
the town of Nagore and its dependencies; but their
retention of the purchase was alike disagreeable to
the English and the Nabob, and an arrangement
was made for its surrender.

It is now necessary to glance at the affairs of
Bengal subsequently to the departure of Clive. The
government of Mr. Verelst, who succeeded to the
chair, affords little deserving of notice. He inter-
fered to protect the Emperor and the Vizier from a
menaced invasion by Abdalee Shah, projected an un-
successful expedition to Nepaul, and concluded a
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new treaty with the Vizier. Mr. Verelst was suc-
ceeded by Mr. Cartier, the principal events of whose
administration were a dreadful famine, and the death
of the Nabob Syef-al-Dowlah of small-pox. The Na-
bob was succeeded by his brother, Mobarik-al-Dow-
lah, a boy about ten years of age. On the departure
of Mr. Cartier, his place was occupied by Warren
Hastings, who had been brought from Madras for
the purpose of succeeding to the chair, of which he
took possession in April, 1772. Among the earliest
acts of his government was one little calculated to
secure, either to himself or his country, the confi-
dence of natives of rank. For this act, however, he
was not responsible ; it was forced upon him by the
orders of his superiors. The Court of Directors
were dissatisfied, and not without cause, with the
financial results of their government in Bengal ; and
they had resolved to discontinue the use of the
machinery through which the office of dewan had
hitherto been exercised—to dispense with the native
agency, which it had been deemed necessary to
maintain at the head of the revenue department,
and to commit to European servants the discharge
of the functions with which the Company had been
invested by the Emperor. But this was not all.
Reports prejudicial to the character of Mahomed
Reza Khan had reached the Court of Directors.
They had travelled through no regular or respect-
able channel, and originated, it is believed, in the
intrignes of Nuncomar. Unhappily, the Court of
~ Directors listened to them; and orders were sent
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out to seize Mahomed Reza Khan, his family, par-
tisans, and adherents, and detain them in custody
till his accounts should be duly examined. Hast-~
;ings lost no time in executing thesc orders; and
among the parties apprehended was the gallant
native Shitabroy, whose services to the English
might have saved him from such an indignity. Al-
though the Court of Directors scem to have been
aware of the character of Nuncomar, they relied in
a great degree upon evidence which he was expected
to produce for establishing the charges against his
rival. His zeal, indeed, could not be questioned;
and Hastings enlivened it by appointing his son,
Goodias, treasurer of the Nabob’s household. This
appointment Hastings defended, upon the ground
that the young man thus favoured was of a character
opposite to that of his father—placid, gentle, and
without disguise; and that Nuncomar had no authority
but that arising from his ascendancy over the mind
of his son. There can be no doubt that the honour
bestowed on the son was virtually -bestowed on the
father ; and that the influence of an able, intriguing,
and unscrupulous man like Nuncomar, would be
unbounded over the mind of one in whom the habit
of filial respect had prepared the way for the ready
surrender of his judgment, and who possessed no-
share either of the ability or the guile of his parent.
Hastings, however, could be little disposed to trust
Nuncomar, and there is no reason to conclude that
he then entertained any hostile feeling towards Ma-
homed Reza Khan. As far as can be discovered,



BRITISH EMPIRE IN INDIA. 33

he was actuated only by a desire to carry out the
views of his employers; and in the means which he
adopted to conciliate Nuncomar, without, as he be-
lieved, trusting him, his judgment was probably more
to be blamed than his intentions. The inquiry into the
conduct of the deposed Naib advanced slowly, and
the confinement of himself and his associate Shitab-
roy, in consequence, was protracted. Hastings al-
leged the vast influence of the chief prisoner, and
the necessity of breaking it before any efficient pro-
ceedings could be adopted, as the reasons for post-
poning them. Though tedious, the inquiry was pro-
bably fair; for Mahomed Reza Khan was acquitted.
Shitabroy participated in the acquittal, and was dis-
missed with extraordinary marks of honour. But
these were ineffectual to their intended object of
soothing his wounded spirit. Ile died shortly after-
wards, and his death is attributed to the combined
influence of gricf and of the debilitating effects of
the climate of Culcutta.*

The Nabob was a minor, and in the abolition
of previous authorities it became necessary to make
provision for his guardianship. The choice made by
Hastings of a guardian for the infant prince was
certainly an extraordinary one. In such a state of
society as that which prevails in India, where women
of rank never emerge from seclusion, excepting
under very extraordinary circumstances, it could
scarcely have been anticipated that a female would
be selected for an office of state, and still less such

* Scott’s History of Bengal, page 453.
VOL. 1I. D
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CHAP. a female as was chosen for the guardian of the Nabob.

VIIL . .

——  The object of the governor’s choice was Munny Be-
gum, a favourite inmate of the harem of Meer Jaffier,
the mother of Noojum-ad-Dowlal, but not of the
reigning prince. Hastings defended this step, on
the ground that the only man who could pretend to
the trust was the brother of Meer Jaffier; and that,
as he had a numerous family, the influence of his
own ambition or that of his sons might be danger-
ous to the life of the young Nabob. There is un-
doubtedly force in this objection; but if a regard to
the safety of the young Nabob rendered it advisable
to seek a guardian from the gentler sex, there seems
to have been no reason for excluding from the
trust the prince’s mother, who was yet living, and
against whom no exception appears to have existed.
The character of the person actually chosen was not
such as to justify the irregularity of setting aside
the superior claims of the Nabob’s mother. Previ-
ously to obtaining the favour of Meer Jaffier, Munny
Begum had been a public dancing-girl, and in the
exercise of this occupation had attracted the notice
and won the affections of the master of Bengal
Her reputation, it is not to be presumed, was either
better or worse than that ordinarily maintained by
the class of persons to which she belonged—and
the character of the dancing-girls of India is too
well known to need description. It is mot sur-
prising that, when the annals of the Indian govern-
ment were afterwards assiduously searched, to find
matter of accusation against Hastings, this extra-
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ordinary appointment should have given rise to one
of the charges preferred against him. It has never
been satisfactorily explained, and seems incapable of
reasonable explanation. If honestly made, it was
most discreditable to Hastings’s judgment : in what-
ever light contemplated, it is a blot upon his admi-
nistration, and it was one of the main sources of the
disquiet of his after-life.

But it was not matter of internal regulation only
that called for the attention of the governor. The
Emperor had repeatedly pressed for the assistance
of the English to enable him to march to Delhi, but
had invariably been refused. In the Mahrattas he
found more complacent allies. By them he was
conducted to the place where his ancestors had in-
deed been sovereigns, but where, however his situa-
tion might be disguised, he was but the shadow of a
prince. The Mahrattas never work without their
price; and part of the payment of their services to
the Emperor was the transfer to them of the dis-
tricts which had been assigned for his support in his
arrangement with the Dritish Government. That
government now resumed the districts, a measure
not unjustifiable, as they had been transferred to
their enemics. It was, at the same time, resolved
to discontinue the payment of the annual tribute
to the Emperor. This, too, as a temporary expe-
dient, while the Emperor was leagued with a power
dangerous to the British Government, or rather was
entirely at the mercy of that power, was a measure
of ordinary precaution. But it was not as a tem-
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porary expedient that this measure was adopted.
It was laid down by the governor and council as an
express condition of any future arrangement with
the Company, that the Emperor should be required
to renounce his claim both to the arrears of the
tribute and to all future payments for ever. This,
it was urged, would be only a just recompense for
defending against the Mahrattas his possessions in
Korah and Allahabad, in the event of their being
restored to him. Another reason was assigned for
this proceeding, and, in the opinion of the governor
and council, one of even greater weight than the
former. “ We are justified,” said they, “ by the
stronger plea of absolute necessity, in insisting upon
it, as our revenues are utterly unable to support any
longer so ruinous an expense.”* ¢ Indeed,” they
observed, in addressing the Court of Directors in
answer to some complaints which had reached that
authority, “ the state of our treasury rendered it
impracticable to comply with these payments, or
with those which he (the Emperor) would doubtless
have continued to demand in full of his stipend, as
it was then empty of cash; besides that, the great
amount of our debt at interest required our first
attention to its diminution and the immediate
discharge of the interest upon it, instead of squan-
dering away the wealth of the Company on a
pageant of authority from which you can never

* Instructions to Hastings on his departure to negotiate with
the Vizier.
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derive any real benefit.”* No minute scrutiny into
the motives of the discontinuance of the Company’s
stipend will be necessary. That which had dictated
the policy of Vansittart, decided also that of his
successor, Hastings. An empty treasury had led to
the dethronement of Meer Jaffier, and the same
cause deprived Shah Allum of that by which
thrones are supported.t

* Secret Letter from Bengal, 10th December, 1772,

1+ The discontinuance of the Emperor’s stipend was not a sud-
den thought. Itappears to have been long meditated as a resource
under financial embarrassment, and it is painful to find such lan-
guage as the following addressed to the Government of Bengal from
home ; it occurs in the course of some instructions relating to the
withdrawal of a brigade which had been stationed at Allahabad.
After giving orders for this step, the letter proceeds thus:—*The
effects that we look for, from withdrawing the brigade, will be
either that the King will put himself in Shoojah-ad-Dowlah’s
power, follow the brigade, or fling himself into the arms of the
Mabhrattas, or any other power who will give him hopes of an
army to conduct him to Delhi, either of which would be far more
eligible than the present jarring system. If he put himself into
Shoojah-ad-Dowlah’s power, he, as vizier, will possess himself of
the power of disposing of his revenues and of the royal authority,
and we shall be no longer embarrassed with his machinations to
excite us to a rupture with Shoojah-ad-Dowlah; if he flings him-
self into the hands of the Mahrattas, or any other power, we are
disengaged from him, and it may open a fair opportunity of
withholding the twenty-six lacs we now pay him; but the most
eligible for us would be to have him follow the brigade into the
Behar province. In that case, you must inform Shoojah-ad-
Dowlah that, by virtue of the treaty of Allahabad, we, as guaran-
tees, esteem the King’s possessions under our immediate pro-
tection, and that we shall repel any attempts that he may make to
possess himself of them. But, though this language is to be held,
we do not mean that you should engage in & war with Shoojah-ad-
Dowlah, even though he should possess himself of the King’s
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The Bengal Government had assigned as one rea-
son for depriving the Emperor of his stipend, the
expenses incurred in defending his territorial pos-
sessions. They had recorded their opinion, that if
the Emperor should make overtures for renewing
his alliance with the Company, his right to reclaim
the districts formerly assigned to him could not
be disputed. Notwithstanding the avowal of these
views, the territory was disposed of with no greater
ceremony than the stipend. The motive which was
the most powerful in leading to the discontinuance
of the latter prompted also to the transfer of the

possessions ; no interest of the King being of that importance
to us as to plunge us into a war.”—Company’s Select Letter to
Bengal, 11th November, 1768.

The unfortunate Emperor had evidently for some time been
regarded as an incumbrance. It was an object to get rid of the
tribute, if possible ; but if that could not be accomplished, at least
to secure its expenditure within the British possessions. Ina
letter, written more than two years after the former, this part
of the subject is resumed. The Government are directed to
recommend to his Majesty to take up his residence within the
British provinces, with a view to his personal safety ; and they are
thus further instructed :—* To this plea must be added th- ill
effects of the continual drains of the specie of Bengal, on account
of his annual tribute, which, when carried beyond our possessions,
must in a great degree be lost to the necessary circulation, and
may prevent that punctuality in our remittances which we have
hitherto maintained, and may in time wholly incapacitate us from
fulfilling the stipulations we are so desirous to preserve invio-
late.”—General Letter to Bengal, 10th April, 1771.

The return made to the Emperor for the gift of the dewanny
was certainly not the most gracious. It is true that the favour
only gave the appearance of a legal title to power that was actually
in our possession ; but the imperial fia¢ was greatly coveted, and
ought to have been duly remembered.
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former. The Emperor’s districts of Korah and Alla-
habad werce ceded to the Vizier in consideration
of fifty lacs of rupees, twenty of which were to be
paid without delay, and the remainder within
two years. In addition to these payments, better
terms than had previously been obtained were se-
cured for the use of the Dritish troops to be subse-
quently employed in the service of the Vizier. This
advantage was important to the British Government,
and the service of a British force was at that time
ardently desired by the Vizier. He entertained de-
signs of invading the Dooab, and attacking the
Rohillas, and was desirous of obtaining the assist-
ance of the English Government in these attempts.
They declined giving him any assistance towards
the former, but were not indisposed to aid him in
the latter.

The ground of the proposed invasion of the Ro-
hilla territory was the non-fulfilment of certain
pecuniary stipulations entered into by the Rohilla
chiefs with the Vizier in consideration of his inter-
vention to drive away the Mahrattas. The Rohillas
were backward in completing their arrangements,
and the Vizier had thus a plausible cause for war.*

* How far a just one is uncertain, as different accounts are
given of the transaction out of which the war arose. In Appen-
dix No. 21 to the Fifth Report of the Committee of Secrecy of
1781, there appears the following alleged translation of an agree-
ment on the part of the Rohilla sirdars with the Vizier, profess-
ing to be sealed in the preseunce of Sir Robert Barker, the com-
mander of the English brigade :—* The Vizier of the empire,
Shoojah-ad-Dowlah, shall establish the Rohilla sirdars in their
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But his designs extended beyond the mere enforce-
ment of his pecuniary demands upon the Rohillas:

different posses;sions, obliging the Mahrattas to retire, either by
peace or war; this to depend on the pleasure of the Vizier. If
at this time, without either war or peace, the Mahrattas, on
account of the rains, shall cross, and retire, and after the ex-
piration of the rainy season they should again enter the country
cf the Rohillas, their expulsion is the business of the Vizier.
The Rohilla sirdars, in consequence of the above, agree to pay
forty lacs of rupeesto the Vizier in the following manner: as the
Mahrattas are now in the country of the Rohilla sirdars, the Vizier
of the empire shall march from Shawabad as far as may be neces-
sary to enable the families of the Rohillas to leave the jungle and
return to their habitations; ten lacs of rupees, in specie, in part of
the above sum, shall then be paid, and the remaining thirty lacs in
three years from the beginning of the year 1180 Fussuli.”

This agreement is repeatedly referred to in the English official
correspondence. Sir Robert Barker, in a letter to the select
committee, dated 24th March, 1773, says: ‘“ Yesterday I had a
visit from Hafiz Rehmut and his excellency the Vizier, when the
situation of the affairs of the Rohillas was debated. The com-
ing in of Hafiz has assuaged his excellency a good deal, and
upon condition of the Rohillas immediately clearing off the last
year’s treaty of forty lacs of rupees, it has been determined to
afford their families and country protection from the ravages of
the Mabhrattas, of which the Nabob [vizier] is to pay the Company
twenty lacs for the part they will take in their protection; Yut,
in default of the fulfilling of this agreement by the Rohillas, his
excellency agrees to pay the sum of fifty lacs of rupees to the
Company for their aid in putting him in possession of the Rohilla
districts, commonly known by the territories of Hafiz Rehmut.”
The select committee, by letter, dated the 15th April following,
authorized Sir Robert Barker to accept the offer of half the forty
lacs for aiding in protecting the country from the Mahrattas,
but forbade him to proceed further with regard to the re-
maining part of the Vizier's purpose without fuller instruc-
tions. Such is the English account of this arrangement. In
a life of Hafiz Rehmut Khan, written by his son, an abridged
translation of which has been published by the Oriental Transla-
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he meditated the conquest of the country, and its
annexation to his own dominions. In this project

tion Fund, the transaction is thus related :—‘ A second deputa-
tion was sent, when the Mahrattas agreed to accept forty lacs
of rupees, provided that Shoojah-ad-Dowlah made himself respon-
sible for the payment.. The Nawab [vizier] declined entering
into such an engagement, unless Hafiz gave him a bond for the
money, adding that he would not have acted as mediator but
from regard to Hafiz, whose country was now invaded. The
whole of the Affghan sirdars entreated Hafiz to consent, promising
to contribute their quotas towards its discharge, on which the
deed was executed ; and Shoojah-ad-Dowlah having made himself
responsible to the Mahrattas, they quitted Kutheir. .

When Hafiz Rehmut arrived at Bareilly, he sent from his own
treasury five lacs of rupees to Shoojah-ad-Dowlah, in part-pay-
ment of his bond, but each of the sirdars pleaded poverty in
excuse for the non-fulfilment of their engagement.”—Life of
Hafiz, pages 99, 100.—The subsequent history of the transaction
is thus given :—** At this period the vakeels of Mahajee Scindia
and Tookoojee Holkar waited on Hafiz Rehmut with a message
from their masters, purporting that it was their intention to attack
Shoojah-ad-Dowlah, and proposing that, in the event of Hafiz
joining the confederacy, half the country which they might wrest
from the Nawab [vizier] should be given to him ; or, if he preferred
remaining neuter, they would make over to him Shoojah-ad-
Dowlah’s bond for the forty lacs of rupees, on condition of his
not opposing them while crossing the Ganges, or during their
march. They, moreover, added, that in the event of his rejecting
both these propositions, the Mahrattaswould lay waste and plunder
his country. Hafiz answered, that through life he had made ita
rule never to join the infidels in opposing the faithful; that he
would not be allured into a deviation from the path of duty by
their tempting offers, and that he was ready to stand by the conse-
quences which might ensue from such a decision. Hafiz Rehmut
made known to Shoojah-ad-Dowlah the propositions of the Mah-
rattas, said that he would without delay prepare his army to
take the field, advised the Nawab [vizier] to lose no time in
guarding the Ghauts, and concluded by requesting the return of
his bond, as the money, for the payment of which Shoojah-ad-Dow-
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the governor of Bengal was desirous of engaging,
although he felt that the question involved very

lah had made himself responsible, had not yet been sent, nor could
it be supposed that the Nawab [vizier] would now consider his en-
gagement binding ; as a necessary consequence of which, his claim
on Hafiz ceased. Shoojah-ad-Dowlah dispatched Syyud Shah
Muddun, as his vakeel, to express how much he felt indebted to
Hafiz for his conduct on the occasion, to communicate to him the
arrangements which had been made for the assembly of the army,
and to promise the restitution of the bond as soon as the Mah-
rattas were defeated.” Pp. 107,108. *“ Hafiz Rehmut, with only
two thousand men, marched to Asubpore; but in the evening he
was joined by Mohiboolla Khan and Moostukcem Khan, with
seven thousand men, and during the night several other sirdars
arrived; so that his force amounted to about twelve thousand
horse and foot. Still the officers were unwilling to engage till a
messenger arrived from Shoojah-ad-Dowlah, to desire an imme-
diate junction with his army, as he proposed to attack the Mah-
rattas without delay. The troops were immediately put in motion,
and in the general action which ensued, the Mahrattas were com-
pletely routed.” Page 109. ¢ On the return of Shoojah-ad-Dow-
lah to Oude, Hafiz sent Mahomed Khan and Abdoollah Khan to
demand the restitution of his bond. The Nawab [vizier] denied
having made any promise to restore it, or having authorized his
vakeel g0 to do. The agents of Hafiz urged the generosity of their
master’s conduct in refusing the tempting offers which had been
made to him by the Mahrattas, and produced the Nawab’s [vi ier’s]
letters, whereby he bound himself to abide by the engagements en-
tered into by his vakeel; they therefore insisted that the vakeel
should be called in, to declare whether or not he had, on the behalf
of the Nawab [vizier], engaged to restore the bond as soon as the
Mahrattas were defeated. Shah Muddun was accordingly sum-
moned, and declared that he had made the promise by authority
from the Nawab [vizier]. This the Nawab denied ; and Shah Mud-
dun, indignant at being charged with falsehood, retorted it on Shoo-
jah-ad-Dowlah. The agents of Hafiz supported the Shah, and ex-
pressed freely their opinions of the Nawab’s [vizier's] duplicity, and
the parties separated in anger. Mahomed Khan and Abdoollah Khan

returned to Bareilly, and reported the ill success of their mission ;
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heavy responsibility. It appears not, however, that
a regard to the justice of the project at all embar-

but Hafiz did not find it convenient to come to an open rupture
with the Nawab [vizier], and was therefore obliged to stifle his
resentment.” Pp. 110, 111. ‘¢ At this time, Shoojah-ad-Dowlah
was engaged in an attempt to expel the Mahrattas from the per-
gunnahs of Etawah and Shekoabad, to which Hafiz objected,
stating that these pergunnahs had been given to his family by
Ahmed Shah Dooranee; and although by the chances of war he
had been compelled to relinquish them for a time, yet that he had
by no means given up his claim to them; that even at this
moment he had it in contemplation to send a military force for
the expulsion of the Mahratta aumil; and that Shoojah-ad-
Dowlah’s present conduct was highly ungenerous, and in-
consistent with the friendship which had so long subsisted
betwecen them. The Nawab [vizier] replied, that the per-
gunnahs in question having been conquered by the Mahrattas,
the claim of Hafiz, on the plea of a gift from the Shah, had
entirely ceased ; that he felt himself as much at liberty to invade
these pergunnahs as any other part of the Mahratta territory, and
that having been successful, he should not relinquish the conquest.
Hafiz again urged the point in stronger terms; when the Nawab
[vizier] told him, that he would consider about the restoration of
the pergunnahs, and in the meantime desired that Hafiz would dis-
charge the balance of thirty-five lacs of rupees due on his bond ; but
this was merely to afford him a pretext for invading Kutheir, and for
this purpose he began to assemble his army. As Hafiz Rehmut had,
during the last few years, lost his best officers, and could place
little confidence in those who remained, he was conscious of his
inability to oppose Shoojah-ad-Dowlah, and therefore offered to
pay as much of the forty lacs as the Nawab [vizier] had paid to
the Mahrattas; but this proposition was rejected, and, with a
British force in addition to his own, Shoojah-ad-Dowlah advanced
to the Ganges. Puhar Sing, the dewan of Hafiz, strongly ad-
vised his master not to risk a battle, and offered to find funds for
the payment of the thirty-five lacs of rupees, if Hafiz would permit
him to wait on Colonel Champion, through whose mediation a
reasonable period for discharging the debt might be fixed; but
Hafiz said, that as he had not the money, and as none of the sirdars
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rassed his consideration of its expediency. This is
no uncharitable surmise, for his reflections on the

were willing to contribute towards the payment, he would not
borrow, and was prepared to die in defence of his country. Puhar
Sing again offered to procure the money from some Muhajins,
but Hafiz would not consent, observing, that as he must die some
time, he could not fall in a better cause.” Pages 112, 113.

The account of the native witness is very circumstantial, but
there is no opportunity of subjecting him to cross-examination.
Some circumstances in his narrative seem improbable, more
especially the presumption of Shah Muddun in affirming that
which his master denied, and, as it would appear, without any
stronger motive than a regard for truth. In some letters from Sir
Robert Barker, written before the conclusion of the treaty above
quoted, reference is made to a project entertained by the Vizier
of acting as a mediator between the Rohillas and the Mahrattas,
his design being to obtain a large sum from the former, and to
give a small one to the latter. In another letter, dated the 10th
May, 1773, Sir Robert Barker says :— In consequence of the
retreat of the Mahrattas towards the Jumna, the Rohillas are but
little inclined to perform their agreements, and already begin to
hesitate from motives that they deem the defence offered their
country by the English forces and the Vizier equally necessary for
the protection of his Excellency’s dominions, and that no terms
of accommodation have been settled with the Mahrattas, by which
only a permanent peace and security to their possessions can be
insured to them ;—that the Mahrattas may return to them the
next seagon, and with equal propriety demand the performance of
their treaty with them for thirty-five lacs; will we, in that case, be
answerable to defend their possessions or procure an established
peace between them and the Mahrattas ?”” This seems to favour
the native account of the transaction. The case is further em-
barrassed by a statement of Colonel Champion, made four days
before the battle with the Rohillas, and which, moreover, is at
variance with the assertion in the native account that Hafiz then
refused to negotiate. Colonel Champion says:—* Since my
letter of the 17th to the Governor, Hafiz Rehmut has, by letter,
expressed earnest inclinations to come to an accommodation with
the Vizier, which has been the cause of my halting here to-day.
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subject are upon record. He thought that the Ro-
hillas were dangerous to the Vizier, « the only useful
ally of the Company ;” that they could not be relied
on to oppose the Mahrattas, but, on the contrary,
were likely to join with that power in attacking
Oude; that the acquisition of the Rohilla country
would be very beneficial to the Vizier and the Com-
pany, inasmuch as it would strengthen the frontier
of the former, without rendering the country less
accessible to the forces of the latter—would give
the Vizier wealth, of which the Company might
expect to partake, and security, without dangerous
increase of power. Lastly, he thought of forty lacs
of rupees, which the Vizier had promised as the
immediate reward of the desired service, and of the
advantage of having a large portion of the Company’s
army supported at the expense of their ally, which
while thus ceasing to be a charge upon the Com-
pany’s finances, would be ‘“ employed usefully for
their interests, and conveniently for keeping up its
own discipline and practice in war.”*

Still he hesitated : the circumstances of the times
seemed to demand caution. He reminded the Board

The Nabob {vizier] claims no less than two crores of rupees, and
unless he greatly abates his demand, it is not likely that an ami-
cable decision can take place.” How the forty lacs had become
swelled to two crores is not explained. On the whole, this may
be regarded as a striking instance of the difficulty of ascertaining
with exactness the truth of the details of Oriental history.

* See Minute of the President, Select Consultations, 26th
Nov, 1778, published in Fifth Report of Committee of Secrecy,
1782,
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of the public clamour which prevailed at home, of
the notice which Indian affairs obtained in parlia-
ment, and of the avidity with which the ministers
of the Crown would seize upon any false step in
the approaching negotiations for the renewal of
the Company’s charter. With reference to all
these considerations, it was finally determined not
to decline the invitation of the Vizier, but to
give such an answer as would probably induce him
to withdraw it.* The conduct of the Vizier was
nearly as undecided as that of the Dritish Govern-
ment. For a time he refrained from further calling
on them ; but, after a brief interval, he laid claim to
their assistance. The English brigade, under Colonel
Champion, was accordingly put in motion; and on
the 23rd April, 1774, gave battle to the Rohillas,
and gained a complete victory over an army of
about forty thousand men, commanded by Hafiz
Rehmut Khan. About two thousand of the enemy
fell on the field; more than fifty pieces of cannon
were taken, and standards without number. The
Vizier manifested the most dastardly pusillaniwmity.
The night before the battle, he refused Colonel
Champion the use of some pieces of cannon for
which he applied, and urged him to decline the fight.
Finding the British commander inexorable on the
last point, he promised to support him with all

* There had previously been some personal communication on
the subject between the Vizier and the English governor; but it
had not produced any result, except a slight modification of the
bargain for the sale of the Emperor’s territories.
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his force, and especially with a large body of cavalry,
to act under Colonel Champion’s directions. In-
stead of this, he remained inactive at some distance
from the field, surrounded by his cavalry, and with
a large train of artillery unemployed, till the news
of the enemy’s defeat rcached him. His cavalry
then moved with admirable celerity, pushed into the
enemy’s camp, and carried off immense plunder, in
treasure, elephants, camels, camp equipage, and other
effects. The Company’s troops, justly indignant at
the conduct of those of the Vizier, are said to have
exclaimed—* We have the honour of the day, and
these banditti the profits.”*

The contest was now virtually decided. The ob-

stinate determination of a chief, named Fyzoolla -

Khan, occasioned the united armies to make a
movement against him ; but the business was settled
by negotiation, and the Vizier was placed in quiet
possession of his new territory. His acquisition
cannot be regarded in any other light than as an
unrighteous conquest, and the English Government
must bear their share of the guilt attending it. Inex-
tenuation, it has been urged that the Rohillas formed
but a small portion of the inhabitants of the country,
that their possession of it was not of long standing,
and that it had been acquired by the same means by
which it had been lost. All this is true : the Rohillas
were enterprising Affghan adventurers, who had re-
duced to subjection a comparatively feeble Hindoo

* Colonel Champion’s Letter to Government, 24th April,
1774.
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population, who still constituted a vast majority of
the inhabitants of the country. Before the invasion
of the Vizier, these were victims of Mahometan
usurpation ; and after its success, they remained the
same. But it does not appear that they invited fo-
reign assistance to rid them of their first oppressors,
nor that they were in any way benefited by the
change. Consideration for their welfare certainly
formed no element in the calculations of either the
Vizier or his European ally.

While these transactions were taking place, the
affairs of India were discussed at home with an un-
usual degree of interest and excitement. The Com-
pany were unable to meet their engagements with
the public, and were even compelled to apply to
Government for a loan. DBorrowers are seldom
regarded with much favour; their errors never
escape condemnation, and not unfrequently their
misfortunes are converted into crimes. In this
case, too, the public disappointment was great. The
riches of India was a phrase which had passed into
a proverb, and the possession of a large portion o. a
country, which was supposed to overflow with wealth,
was looked to as an infallible restorative of the
dilapidated finances of Great Britain. It was as-
tounding, therefore, to learn that, from some cause,
the countless treasures of India did not find their
way home—or, at least, not into the coffers of the
Company ; for it was a startling fact, that while the
Company was needy and embarrassed, many who
had entered their service poor, quitted it, not merely
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with competent means of support, but with fortunes
rivalling those of the most opulent members of either
the aristocracy or the monied interest. These in-
stances of well-requited service confirmed the belief
in Indian wealth—to the popular mind it was still
evident that India abounded in riches, though, from
some extraordinary ill fortune, or ill management, the
Company did not succeed in obtaining their share.
The envy excited by these sudden acquisitions of
opulence and grandeur, added to the unfavourable
feeling engendered by the embarrassments of the
Company, and the parliament, the press, and the con-
versation of men of all ranks and parties, found a
never-failing supply of matter for discussion and in-
vective in the alleged mismanagement of the affairs
of Tndia, and the enormous wealth brought from that
country by those who had Dbeen officially conneeted
with it. At no period before or sinee has the subject
attracted so much interest. India, for the most part,
has been a word that has fallen on the public car
almost unheeded. Tt was then invested with a spell
which commanded universal attention, and con-
verted it into the means of universal excitement.
About the time that Hastings took possession of
the seat of government at Calcutta, two committees
were appointed by the House of Conmnons to in-
quire into the affairs of the East-India Company—
the one sceret, the other open* The Company

* The fact of two committees sitting contemporaneously on the
same subject provoked the sarcasm of Burke. He said, on one
occasion : ““ Sir, when the Company is thus tender of encroach-
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proposed to send out a superintending commission,
but a parliamentary negative prevented the accom-
plishment of their purpose. The ministers were
ready to relieve the embarrassments of the Com-
pany by a loan, but they were not less ready to take
advantage of their position and that of the Company
by prescribing their own terms. The claim of the
Crown to four hundred thousand pounds per annum
was to be suspended till the loan was repaid ; but, in
other respects, the Company regarded the proposed
conditions as harsh,and even as inconsistent with their
corporate rights. They resisted, but with the usual
fortune of those who resist a ministerial majority.

-

ing upon any of our rights, is it not cruel, is it not ungenerous
in administration to harass it with two committees—with a com-
mittee of secrecy, founded on the principles of the Inquisition,
and with a select committee, whichis declared by one of its friends
to be a mockery of the Company? A gentleman who generally
votes with the administration finds the bill to be illegal, inex-
pedient, and alarming, and he finds the secret committee to be
an inquisition, too rapid and violent in its motions. Another
friend of the ministry declares the select committee so slow in its
vrogress as to be a perfect mockery. What is to become o1 the
Company between both ? I protest I can compare them to nothing
but a jack. The select committee is the slow-moving weight,
the secret committee is the flyer, and what with the slow motion
of the one, and the rapid motion of the other, the Company is
effectually roasted.” Sir William Meredith, in answer, said:
“ The honourable gentleman compares the two committees to a
jack. He says the secret one is like the flyer of the jack, and
the other like the weight. I agree with him in the simile, but
draw a very different conclusion. Sir, between the ponderous
weight at one end, and the quick motion of the flyer, the dish is
prepared, and rendered fit for digestion.”’—Debate, 18th Decem-
ber, 1772.
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The minister declared that, though the Company
should decline the loan, parliament would, never-
theless, interfere for the regulation of their affairs.*
Parliament did interfere, and most extensively. The
plan for a superintending commission had been re-
jected ; but it was not the intention of the minister to
permit the government of India to remain as before
—that which he had refused the Company the
power to do he meant to do himself. The Com-
pany had been occupied in preparing a plan for
the improvement of the administration of justice
in Bengal. This task, too, was seized by the minis-
ter. The question of territorial right he expressed
himself unwilling to agitatc ; but a series of resolu-
tions, proposed in the House of Commons by Gene-
ral Burgoyne, chairman of the select committee,
were carried, the first of which declared ¢ that all
acquisitions made under the influence of military
force, or by treaty with foreign princes, do of right
belong to the state.”t The views of the ministry

* Speech of Lord North, 17th May, 1773.

+ The immediate and professed object of this resolution was
not the determination of the respective claims of the Company
and the state—it was the first of three, based on the report of the
committee, and intended primarily to apply to the conduct of
Clive and others, who benefited irregularly by their connection
with the government of Bengal. The second and third resolutions
were, ** 2nd. That to appropriate acquisitions so made to the pri-
vate emolument of persons intrusted with any civil or military
power of the state is illegal. 38rd. That very great sums of
money and other valuable property have been acquired in Bengal
from princes and others of that country by persons intrusted with
the military and civil powers of the state, which sums of money
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were finally embodied in a bill presented to parlia-
ment. By this bill the government of Bengal was
to be vested in a governor-general and four council-
lors, and to this authority the other presidencies
were placed in subordination. A supreme court of
judicature was to be established at Calcutta, to con-
sist of a chief justice and three puisne judges, who
were to be nominated by the Crown, but paid by
the Company. The first governor-general and mem-
bers of council for Bengal were to be named in the
act—they were to hold office for five years, and dur-
ing that period to be irremovable, except by the
Crown, on represelitation of the Court of Directors.
Vacancies were to be supplied by the court subject
to the approbation of the Crown. Other provisions
affecting the constitution of the Company and the
rights of proprietors were introduced. Every pro-
prietor of £500 stock had one vote in all proceedings
of the Company, and no amount of stock entitled the
holder to more. It was now proposed to raise the

and other valuable property have heen appropriated to the private
use of such persons.” On a subsequent day, a resolution, declar-
ing that Lord Clive had obtained money to the amount of
#£234,000, was moved and carried. It was proposed to follow
this resolution by another of a condemnatory character, but the
previous question was moved and carried ; after which, the friends
of Lord Clive succeeded in carrying a resolution, declaring * that
Robert Lord Clive did, at the same time, render great and meri-
torious services to the country.”

Though Clive was thus relieved from all apprehension of penal
visitation or pecuniary loss, the excitement of the inquiry, and the
obloquy to which it exposed him, probably affected his mind.
He died by his own hand a few months afterwards.
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qualification for voting to £1,000, and to give to
holders of larger sums a plurality of votes ; £3,000
was to entitle the possessor to two votes—£6,000
to three—and £10,000 to four.

These proposals were received by the Company
with a storm of indignation. A petition to the
House of Commons, complaining in strong terms of
various provisions in the bill, was submitted to the
proprictors, and, on a ballot, adopted by four hun-
dred and forty votes against fourteen. It denounced
the bill as destructive of every privilege which the
Company enjoyed under the most sacred securitics,
and us affording a precedent dangerous to the pro-
perty of the people at large; complained of the
appointment of officers by parliament, vested with
the whole ecivil and military authority of Bengal,
and with a power of superintending the other presi-
dencies, which officers the Company had no means
of recalling, and over whom they could exereise no
real control, while the territorial possessions were,
notwithstanding, declared to be still vested in the
Company, and prayed the House not to give its
sanction to an act which, under the colour of regu-
lating, would * annihilate at once the powers of the
Company, and virtually transfer them to the Crown;”
it represented the Dbill as destructive of the rights
and interests of the Company in many other re-
spects, and at the same time defective in many of
the purposes for which it was declared to be framed,
and as tending to destroy the liberties of the sub-
Jeet by making an immense addition to the influence
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cuap. of the Crown; deprecated the forfeiture of fran-
VI chise without proof of delinquency, and prayed to
be heard by counsel against the bill. The corpora-
tion of the city of London also petitioned against
the bill, representing it as of dangerous consequence
to the franchises of every corporate body in the
kingdom—professing to be alarmed by such pro-
ceedings, inasmuch as the privileges of the city of
London stood on the same security as those of the
East-India Company, and alleging that the bill had
been brought into the House with a degree of
secrecy incompatible with the principles of the con-
stitution in matters of such public concern. Another
petition was presented from the proprietors holding
a less amount of stock than £1,000, and who would
be disfranchised by the bill if it should pass into a
law. They urged the hardship of depriving them of
a valuable right without just cause, and denied that
their disfranchisement would have the effect of sup-
pressing collusive transfers. The Company were
heard by counsel against the bill as they had prayed,
but the eloquence of the bar seldom shakes the
influence of the Treasury-bench. The bill passed
the Commons and was sent to the Lords. The
Company again petitioned—were again heard by
counsel, but with no greater effect than in the lower
House. The bill became law, but the hostile senti-
ments of a considerable number of peers were re-
corded in two protests.
Besides the provisions already noticed, the act
contained many others of greater or less importance.
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Among them was one requiring twelve months’ pos-
session of stock, instead of six, as a qualification for
voting in general courts. By another, it was en-
acted that the directors should be elected for four
years in place of one, and that one-fourth part of
the entire number should be renewed annually. It
also provided, that all the Company’s correspondence
relating to civil and military affairs, the govern-
ment of the country, or the administration of the
revenues, should be laid before one of His Majesty’s
secretaries of state. The receipt of presents by
scrvants, either of the Crown or the Company, was
prohibited ; and the governor-general, councillors,
and judges, were restrained from entering into trade,
or deriving profit from it.

The changes effected by this act may now be
judged, with a coolness which neither those by
whom it was introduced, nor those by whom it was
opposed, could possess. The prohibition of the re-
ceipt of presents was unquestionably good, but the
Company were quite as willing as the legislature to
enforce this. Not less beneficial was the provision
restricting those by whom the government was ex-
ercised from engaging in trade; but this, too, was
in accordance with the view of the Company. In
reference to the change of circumstances, it was not
unreasonable that the political correspondence of
the Company should be brought to the knowledge
of the ministers of the Crown. The Company were
no longer a mere commercial association; they had
to administer the affairs of a great kingdom. The ho-
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nour of the British Crown and of the British nation was
involved in their performance of this.duty, and they
might properly be called upon to shew that it was
well performed. The change in the period for which
the directors were chosen to serve was not unsup-
ported by reason. A tenure of office confined to one
year is too brief to encourage the exercise of firm-
ness, vigour, and independence. Its tendency is to
promote vacillating councils, and so short a term
was, moreover, singularly ill adapted to the peculiar
circumstances of the East-India Company. At the
time under consideration, a year barely sufficed for
the transmission of a despatch to or from India, and
the receipt of an answer. The expediency of the
judicial changes is less apparent. Some change was
undoubtedly called for; but it has often been doubted
whether the new court of justice established by this
act was adapted to the state of socicty in which it
was erected. Its actual working will hereafter be
seen. The practice of collusive transfers was a
monstrous evil, calling loudly for remedy. The
Company were not inscnsible of this, and the sub-
ject had given rise to much discussion in their
courts, before the legislature interfered. It would
perhaps be too much to affirm, that the regulations
affecting the right of voting Lave entircly put an
end to the practice; and it may be vain to expect
that any legislative enactments can effect this de-
sirable object. If, however, with regard to some
parts of this act, doubts may be entertained, there
is at least one upon which no doubt can exist ; it is
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that which gave to parliament the power of nomi-
nating the first governor-general and members of
council. Opinions may differ as to the best mode
of appointing such functionaries, but few persons
will deny that the mode adopted in this case was
among the worst. The nomination of men to office
by parliament is an exercise of power without re-
sponsibility. The ministers of the Crown are respon-
sible for their acts—the East-India Company, or
any similar body exercising political power, is also
responsible—but the responsibility of parliament to
itself is absurd, and cven unintelligible. An ap-
pointment by parliament is an appointment by the
majority in parliament ; and an appointment by the
majority in parliament is virtually an appointment
made by the ministry for the time being, but di-
vested of that responsibility which, in the ordinary
exercise of their patronage, they incur.  Whatever
results follow, the ministers ean neither be punished
nor censured; the choice was not theirs, but that
of parliament; and while thus enabled to elude re-
sponsibility, they have an opportunity of covertly
securing an object which it might neither be safe
to attempt openly, nor practicable to obtain if so
attempted.

With this act begins a new era in the history of
the East-India Company. The proceedings of the
new government will be detailed in another chap-
ter. Here it is only necessary to observe, that
Warren Hastings, then the actual governor of Ben-
gal, was named as the head of the new government.
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Mr. Barwell, a civil servant of the Company, and
then in India, was nominated one of the council.
The remaining councillors were, General Clavering,
Colonel Monson, and Mr. Philip Francis, all of them
at the time in England.
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CHAPTER IX.

THE members of council who had to proceed from cuap. 1x.
England, as well as the chief justice and puisne —
judges of the Supreme Court of Judicature, arrived
at Calcutta in October, 1774, and on the 21st of A.D.1774,
that month the new government was publicly pro-
claimed. The Court of Directors had framed, for
the guidance of the governor-general and council,

a very long and minute code of instructions, com-
mencing with an injunction to preserve harmony.
But from the moment at which the voyagers set
foot on the shore of Bengal, it was evident that
there was but small ground for hoping that the good
advice of the Court would be followed. The re-
ception given by the governor-general to his new
associates was in their judgment deficient in respect,
for though they rcceived a salute from the battery,
it consisted of only seventeen guns, whereas they
were of opinion that they were entitled to twenty-
one. The minds of all parties were probably well
prepared for hostility. The voice of Hastings had
previously been all-powerful, and he could scarcely
expect to retain in the new council the command-
ing influence which he had previously enjoyed. He
consequently regarded his new coadjutors with little



60 _ HISTORY OF THE

cHAP. 1x. good-will, while of their capacity for office he formed

no favourable judgment. ¢ lIle seems, without
doubt,” says his biographer, “to have entertained
but an indifferent opinion of the fitness of the in-
dividuals selected to work out the new system: he
more than insinuates as much in his confidential
communications with his friends.”® On the other
hand, the new members of council were impressed
with a high sense of their own dignity, sclected as
they had been by no less an authority than the
voice of parliament to assist in restoring to order
and prosperity the embarrassed affairs of Great Bri-
tain in the East. Their minds, too, appear to have
been filled to overflowing with the prevailing im-
pression of universal misgovernment in India, and
the elements of discord were thus abundant.  They
soon began to ferment. Mr. Barwell was in the
interior, and till his arrival the public business and
the angry passions of the members of the govern-
ment alike had rest. The accession of the absent
councillor set both in motion. The governor-gene-
ral laid hefore the board a minute, containing a re-
lation of the principal events of his own adminis-
tration, and an exposition of the existing state of
the Company’s affairs. The Rohilla war and the
Company’s relations with the Vizier necessarily
formed prominent topics in this paper, and out of
these arose the first explosion of ill-feeling. Hastings
had prevailed upon the Vizier to receive at his court

* Memoirs of the Life of the Right Honourable Warren Hast-
ings, by the Rev. G. R. Gleig, vol, i. page 451.
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a British resident, and a gentleman named Middle-
ton had been appointed to the office. Between the
resident and the governor many communications
had passed, which the latter had not submitted, and
did not intend to submit, to his colleagues. General
Clavering called for this correspondence, as well as
for any of a similar naturc between the governor
and Colonel Champion. Hastings answered, that
he would lay before the board extracts of all parts of
the letters, both of the resident and Colonel Cham-
pion, which related to public affairs ; but as the letters
might, and he believed did, contain things not pro-
per for public record, he declined submitting them
entire. The general persisted, and was supported
by Colonel Monson and Mr. Francis. Hastings re-
corded a dissent from the decision of the majority—
his threc opponents protested against his dissent,
and within a week after the proclamation of the
new government its members were engaged in bitter
strife and fierce recrimination. The governor-ge-
neral continued immovable in his determination not
to lay before the board the whole of the correspon-
dence. His opponents no less obstinately adhered
to their demand for its production; but as they had
no means of enforcing the demand against the
will of Hastings, they of necessity were forced to
submit. They had, however, an expedient by which
they could annoy the governor-general, if they could
not conquer him. Colonel Monson suggested the re-
cal of Mr. Middleton. General Clavering and Mr.
Francis supported the proposal—Mr. Barwell took
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part with the governor-general, but the former three
constituting a majority of the board, their views
necessarily prevailed, and a resolution for the recal
of the resident at the court of the Vizier was passed.
Another resolution followed, directing Mr. Middleton
to bring with him the whole of his correspondence
during his residence at the court of Oude, in-
cluding all that the governor-general had refused.
The next subject of discussion was the choice of a
successor to Mr. Middleton. Hastings was requested
to nominate some person, but declined. General
Clavering then proposed that the duties of the resi-
dent should be transferred to Colonel Champion, the
officer commanding the brigade on service in Oude.
Mr. Barwell objected to the office of resident being
united with the chief military command, and the go-
vernor agreed in the objection ; but Colonel Monson
and Mr. Francis supporting General Clavering, his
resolution was carricd. Hastings was subjected to
the mortification of being instructed to write to the
Vizier, apprizing him of the removal of a resident
whom the writer wished to countenance, and of
the appointment of a successor to whom he had ob-
jected ; but he had the satisfaction of again record-
ing his dissent. The next movement of the oppo-
sition party in the council was to propose an imme-
diate demand for the forty lacs which the Vizier had
engaged to pay, and for such further sums as might
be due from that prince. This demand was to be
made by Colonel Champion, and it was proposed to
instruct him, that if all the money could not be had,
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he was to obtain as much as possible, and security
for the remainder; that if the demand should be

resisted, he was to protest, and within fourteen days-

retire into the Company’s territory, unless there
were difficulty or danger in such a step; that in
any case, after the negotiations should be concluded,
he should withdraw his force within the limits of
the province of Oude, and unless its continuance
should be required for the defence of the original
dominions of the Vizier, or of Korah and Allahabad,
return with it to cantonments at Dinapore. These
proposals were opposed by the governor-general and
Mr. Barwell, and a war of minutes ensued, consuming
much time and covering a vast mass of paper, but
ending, as it must have been foreseen by all parties
that it would end, in the triumph of Hastings’s op-
ponents. The combatants now resolved to appeal
to their superiors. On the 30th November, only
forty-one days after the landing of the new council-
lors had been announced, by what they regarded as
the stinted measure of honour conveyed by seven-
teen discharges of artillery, they laid before the
board a letter which they had prepared for trans-
mission to the Court of Directors. It consisted of
no less than seventy-four paragraphs, some of them
of considerable length, and all full charged with
denunciations of the governor-general’s policy. This
document was prepared with a view to its being
perused by other parties than those to whom it was
addressed. In a note which accompanied the de-
livery of the letter to the board, the framers of it
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observe, “the whole of the papers, as they appre-
hend, must, in obedience to the act of parliament, be
transmitted by the Court of Directors to one of Ilis
Majesty’s principal sceretaries of state.”

The members of the council of Bengal could not
directly address the ministers of the Crown—at
lcast, they could not officially address them; but
there can be little doubt that this letter was in-
tended for the ministry, though ostensibly addressed
to another authority.* The governor-general, like
his adversaries, laid his case before the Court of Di-
rectors in a separate communication, and the Court
were thus enlightened by three sets of despatches on
the same subject—one from the governor-general
and council in the usual form, another from the
governor-general only, and a third from three mem-
bers of the council. Mr. Barwell, though agrecing
with the governor-general, declined to become a
party to his appeal. Regarding such communica-
tions as irregular and improper, he contented him-
self with recording a minute expressing that opinion,
and stating his general concurrence in the views of
the governor-general.

Whatever opinion might be formed of the justice
or policy of the Rohilla war, whatever views might
be entertained of the disposition of the Vizier to
fulfil his engagements, the course forced upon the
governor-general by the majority of the council was

* Both parties probably addressed the ministers privately.
Hastings certainly did. See a Letter from him to Lord North
in Gleig’s Memoirs, vol. i. page 471.
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obviously unwise. It was the dictate, not of a cool and
deliberate consideration of the circumstances of the
case—not of an honest judgment, sound or unsound—
but of blind passion and headlong wilfulness. Had the
measures of the council been acted upon in the temper
“in which they were conceived, and had they been
encountered by the Vizier in a like temper, there
would have been no choice but to abandon so much
of the debt as the Vizier might decline to pay, or
to enforce the demand by the sword. A variety of
circumstances combined to avert such an extremity.
The Vizier had begun to diminish his debt. Mr.
Middleton, on obeying the call for his return, brought
with him fifteen lacs. Eight more were obtained
through other channels; the remainder of the ac-
count was to be scttled, not with the Vizier, but
with his successor. The health of Shoojah-ad-Dow-
lah had for some time been declining, and early in
February, 1775, he died. He was succeeded in the
possession of his dominions by his son, Azoff-al-
Dowlah, who also, after much negotiation and with
some difficulty, was ultimately recognized by the
Emperor as his Vizier. This honour, however, was
not attained by the prince till fourteen months after
the death of his father.

Various minor disputes in the council must be
passed over. The death of the Vizier gave occasion
to a quarrel of greater dignity and importance. The
majority in the council, General Clavering, Colonel
Monson, and Mr. Francis, chose to consider all the
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obligations by which the British Government was
connected with the late Vizier as merely personal—
consequently as terminated by the death of the party
with whom they were contracted; and they regarded
that event as affording an opportunity of making a
better bargain with the Vizier's successor. Mr.
Bristow was appointed resident at the court of
Oude, and by him a treaty was concluded, by
which the new Soubahdar agreed to surrender
to the British Government Benares and certain
other distriets, which the three members of coun-
cil reported would produce an annual revenue
of twenty-two lacs; and also to pay for the aid of
the English brigade, when stationed with him, fifty
thousand rupees per annum more than his prede-
cessor had undertaken to pay. The framers of this
treaty evinced a tender regard for their successors
in office, by relieving them from any difficulty as to
the duration of the engagement. The obligation of
the English authorities to respect the provisions of
the treaty was expressly limited to the life of Azoff-
al-Dowlah. This considerate provision is the more
remarkable, as the majority of the council under
whom the treaty was concluded do not appear to
have felt any difficulty in relieving themselves from
all regard to the treaty concluded by the government
which preceded theirs with the Vizier.

The three councillors were greatly proud of the
achievement of this treaty. ¢ The measure,” said
they, “is strictly and exclusively ours: the original
plan was opposed in every step by the governor-
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general and Mr. Barwell.”* Hastings recorded his
conviction that it was not honourable to extort
from the prince “ concessions inconsistent with our
former treaties, to which the necessity of his situa-
tion alone obliged him, however unwilling, to sub-
mit,”t and the judgment of posterity must confirm
the sentence. Remarkable indeed it is, that the
men who were so keenly alive to the injustice of
the Rohilla war, should themselves conceive and
carry into effect an act of deliberate injustice to an
ally, on the very spot where they had proclaimed
themselves the champions of righteousness, and
while the ink was scarcely dry with which they had
recorded their abhorrence of the crooked policy of
their colleague and president. Such a circumstance
pours a stream of light upon their pertinacious op-
position to every act of the governor, and renders it
impossible for the most extended charity to attri-
bute it to any pure or honourable motive.

Hitherto the difterences between the two parties
in the council had reference to matters of public
policy. The rancour of their animosity was now to
be influenced by the investigation of charges affect-
ing the personal integrity of the governor-general.
His accusers were many, his enemies in the council
well disposed to listen to them—but Hastings denied

* Address from General Clavering, Colonel Monson, and Mr.
Francis, to the Court of Directors, 21st November, 1775. Ap-
pendix 157 to the Fifth Report of the Committee of Secrecy, 1782,

+ Observations on Minute of General Clavering, Colonel Mon-

son, and Mr. Francis, by Governor-general, in Appendix 157 to
Fifth Report.
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their right to institute such inquiries, and claimed
the privilege of dissolving any meeting of council in
which such questions were entered upon. This
claim his opponents resisted, and on his quitting the
chair on such occasions, they placed in it one of
their own number, and continued their inquiries.
Charges werc preferred by the Ranee of Burdwan
involving the governor-general, his banyan, and
several other European and native functionaries.
These accusations appear to have been supported by
little or no evidence deserving of credit, and almost
the only ground for attaching any weight to them
was furnished by Mr. Graham, a servant of the Com-
pany, and one of the accused parties, who, as a pre-
liminary to inquiry, demanded that the Ranee should
give security for the payment of a penalty in case
she should fail in establishing her charges. From
another quarter, a charge was made of corruption in
the foujdarry of Hooghly, in which it was alleged
that the governor-general participated. The party
by whom the charge was brought forward was anx-
ious to obtain the office of foujdar for himself, and
offered to undertake it at half the salary theun paid.
The foujdar was summoned to answer for his con-
duct, but either from conscious guilt or personal
scruple, he objected to be examined on oath. The
governor-general defended him; but this, probably,
only furnished an additional reason for visiting his
contumacy with severity. He was dismissed from
his office, but his accuser did not benefit, as he had
hoped, by the result. The conduct of Hastings in
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refusing to defend himself against these charges, or
to permit them to be inquired into by the board of
which he was the head, has been regarded as afford-
ing presumption of his guilt. But it may be suffi-
ciently accounted for upon other motives. It might
arise from an honest conviction that it was incon-
sistent with the dignity of his office to reply to
charges which he declared founded in falsehood and
forgery. It might be attributable to a belief that the
council was not a proper tribunal for the investigation
of such charges, or a conviction that from his asso-
ciates he had little chance of an impartial decision.
It might have its origin in constitutional haughtiness
of temper, of which Hastings had more than an
ordinary share. On the other hand, it is not neces-
sary to suppose that the majority in the council
either suborned or encouraged false evidence, know-
ing or believing it to be such. Their hatred of the
governor-general led them hastily to listen to any
imputations against him, and to estimate the truth
of the charges by their passions, not their judgment.
They had little or no experience of the native
character—they knew not with what facility false
charges are manufactured in India—with what inge-
nuity supported—with what pertinacity maintained.
They might know something of the feeling which
leads the worldly wise to woo the smile of new-
born power by insulting or persecuting those over
whom it has triumphed, for this feeling exists and
operates to a greater or less degree in all countries
and states of society; but they did not know the
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extent to which it prevails in India, nor the fearful
forms in which it is sometimes indulged. The go-
vernor-general was now governor only in name. The
natural influence of his position was destroyed, and
the fact of his having a casting vote in an assembly
of five availed nothing, wherc three systematically
and invariably voted together, and always in oppo-
sition to the chair. To the quickness of native
perception this state of things afforded an index
pointing out the path to success. Whoever sought
to recommend himself to the majority in eouncil
attacked the governor-general. Whoever had an
object to gain, which, under other circumstances,
might be regarded as hopeless, saw in the evil pas-
sions which distracted the council the means of
gratifying his wishes. Whoever bore enmity to the
governor-general readily discerned that this was the
time to seek revenge.

One of the charges which press most heavily on
the character of Hastings, arose out of the extra-
ordinary appointment of Munny Begum to the
guardianship of the infant Nabob. In the exami-
nation of her receipts and disbursements, a large
sum was discovered to be unaccounted for. The
Begum was placed under restraint, and an inquiry
instituted into the defalcation ; when she stated that
a considerable sum had been paid to the governor-
general. That something was given and received
was not denied, but it was alleged to have been
paid on account of extraordinary expenses incurred
by the governor-general’s residence at Moorsheda-
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bad, “and to be sanctioned by custom. It had for
some time been clearly the intention of the Court
of Directors that their servants should receive no-
thing beyond their regular and authorized emolu-
ments, and the plea of custom is a poor one when
placed in opposition to duty.* The transaction
acquires a darker hue from the extraordinary cha-
racter of the appointment in which it originated.
Opinions may indced differ as to the extent of
Hastings’s culpability, but he must be a warm
partizan indeed who will go the length of declaring
